
APPROVED 1 
MINUTES OF THE MILFORD BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING 2 

January 25, 2021 3 
This meeting was conducted pursuant to the State of New Hampshire Emergency Order #12 pursuant to Executive Order 4 
2020-04, temporary modification of public access to meetings under RSA 91-A.  As such, the meeting was conducted 5 
online using these connection instructions that were listed on the posted meeting agenda: "The Public is encouraged to par-6 
ticipate remotely, call in on your phone @ 1-646-558-8656 and enter the meeting ID# 858 3608 0860  and the password is 7 
680611   or join the Zoom Meeting @ https://zoom.us/j/82635714048.  Please try to log in 5 minutes before the meeting's 8 
scheduled start time in case you run into any technical difficulties". 9 
 10 
PRESENT: Gary Daniels, Chairman (Zoom)   John Shannon, Town Administrator (Zoom) 11 

Paul Dargie, Vice Chairman (Zoom)  Tina Philbrick, Executive Assistant (Zoom)   12 
Laura Dudziak, Member (Zoom)     13 

  Chris Labonte, Member (Zoom)     14 
David Freel, Member (Zoom)  15 

 16 
1. CALL TO ORDER, BOARD OF SELECTMEN INTRODUCTIONS & PUBLIC SPEAKING INSTRUCTIONS:    17 
Chairman Daniels declared that an emergency exists and he was invoking the provisions of RSA 91-A: 2, III (b).  Federal, 18 
state, and local officials have determined that gatherings of 10 or more people pose a substantial risk to the community in 19 
its continuing efforts to combat the spread of COVID-19. In concurring with their determination, he also finds that this 20 
meeting is imperative to the continued operation of Town government and services, which are vital to public safety and 21 
confidence during this emergency. As such, this meeting will be conducted without a quorum of this body physically pre-22 
sent in the same location. Information for accessing this meeting can be found on the Town web site in the red banner.   23 
   24 
Chairman Daniels welcomed members of the public accessing this meeting remotely. Even though this meeting is being 25 
conducted in a unique manner under unusual circumstances, the usual rules of conduct and decorum apply. Public com-26 
ments will be limited to five minutes per person. Any person found to be disrupting this meeting will be asked to cease the 27 
disruption. If the disruptive behavior continues thereafter, that person will be removed from the meeting.  28 
 29 
All votes that are taken during this meeting must be done by Roll Call vote. Members who called in from home were asked 30 
to state their name and state whether there was anyone in the room with them during this meeting, which is required under 31 
the Right-to-Know law.   32 
 33 
Roll call attendance: Selectman Dargie, yes, (zoom) no one is present. Selectman Dudziak, yes (zoom) Daughter Mol-34 
ly is in and out. Selectman Labonte yes, present in the BOS room, Selectman Freel, yes, no one is present, and 35 
Chairman Daniels yes, (zoom) no one is present. 36 
 37 
2. APPOINTMENTS: (Approximate times)  38 
 39 
5:30 p.m. – BROX Community Land Conservation Easement – Conservation Chair, Andy Hughes and Conserva-40 
tion Member, Chris Costantino. 41 
In summary:  In summary:  An Alteration of Terrain Updated Permit (dated 10/26/20) was submitted by the Town for the 42 
sand and gravel operation on the property referred to as the Brox Community Land. One of the conditions of this permit is 43 
that the Town of Milford (Town) will put 75 +/-acres into a conservation easement (Plan sheet 1 of 9 note #11). The Board 44 
of Selectmen, at their October 14, 2019 meeting, accepted the Milford Conservation Commission's (MCC) offer to facilitate 45 
this easement process. The Conservation Commission is suggesting that the Board include the remaining cost of $30,000 in 46 
their 2021 budget.   47 
 48 
Chairman Daniels asked about a time-table on this.  Chris said the grant expires June 1, 2021.  Chairman Daniels asked 49 
where we were on the AoT permit.  Lincoln Daley, Community Development Director, said the permit has been submitted 50 
to the state for review.  It’s between DES and Fish and Game and they are hoping for some resolution by next month.   51 
 52 
Rick Riendeau, Director of Public Works, said the permit date was extended by 30 days because the wildlife portion of Fish 53 
and Game didn't get back to DES with their recommendations.  Chairman Daniels asked if surveying was seasonal.  Chris 54 
said it's year-round.   We haven’t talked to Meridian because we don’t have any direction in which to move forward.   55 
 56 
Selectman Dargie asked for a recap on the grant.  Chris said the Commission received a grant for $20,000 which will cover 57 
the survey cost, and there is a one-time $30,000 cost to cover the stewardship easement fund which will be held by NH Fish 58 
and Game to do their annual monitoring.  Lincoln said there is some flexibility but the easement is part of the AoT permit 59 
and there may need to be some negotiation and time allocated to the survey work.   It would be good for the Board to act on 60 
it soon.   61 
 62 

https://zoom.us/j/82635714048


APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 2 

Chris said they can go ahead with the survey operating under the assumption that the boundaries won’t change.  Selectman 63 
Dargie asked if we could work a deal with North East Sand and Gravel to get them to pay the $30,000 and they can recoup 64 
their money with some of the sand they are digging out.   65 
 66 
Selectman Labonte said there is not supposed to be any cost to the tax-payers.  Taking the money from revenue is still tak-67 
ing money from the tax-payers.  Administrator Shannon said the language didn't cover easements.  Selectman Labonte said 68 
the easement is a condition of the permit; you can't get the permit without the easement.  Lincoln said there was an appeal 69 
of the permitting process which caused legal fees.  The point being, there are unknown costs that arose during the permit 70 
process.  The suggestion of using some of the revenues to help assist the town is paying for some of the processes that were 71 
unknown at the time of the permit would be beneficial.   72 
 73 
Selectman Dargie asked again about working a deal.  Lincoln said they can reach out to the contractor.  Selectman Labonte 74 
asked where we were in revenue expectations that we expect to get from the pit and how much we are down compared to 75 
what we were originally told we would get.  Lincoln said he would get that information to him.   76 
 77 
Chairman Daniels said we will get some answers and revisit this at the next meeting.   78 
 79 
5:40 p.m. – Deliberative Session Update – Pete Basiliere, Town Moderator 80 
Pete said the Deliberative Session will be in person at Milford High School on Saturday, January 30th at 9:00 in the café.  81 
Masks are required for the meeting.  Those who will not or can’t wear a mask will be housed in Windows on West Street, 82 
this will be an enclosed space with a monitor to watch the proceeding. Voters can use a microphone to speak and an assis-83 
tant moderator will check them in. 84 
 85 
Those wearing a mask will be set up in the café and spaced 6' apart.  If needed, we will use an adjacent classroom.  This 86 
will also have a microphone to use.  Everything will be broadcasted.  Zoom access will be provided for employees of the 87 
district as well as nonresident experts that may need to participate in the meeting. Residents of Milford will not have access 88 
to zoom. We can’t check in registered voters on zoom or allow them to vote.   89 
 90 
Chairman Daniels asked if requested, how secret ballot voting is handled. Pete said he has a locked ballot box, row by row 91 
participants will receive a slip and they can put them into the box.  The same will be done in Window’s on West Street for 92 
the people who choose not to wear masks.   93 
 94 
Selectman Dargie asked about food.  Pete said people will have time to go get lunch or have someone bring them lunch and 95 
they will have to eat it outside of the building.  Tina Philbrick, Town Assistant said she will provide brown bag lunches to 96 
the Board, BAC, BOS, and Department Heads that are attending.  97 
 98 
Selectman Labonte asked how non-resident speakers get on the list.  Pete said to contact Tina Philbrick.   99 
 100 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENTS (regarding items that are not on the agenda)   101 
 102 
4. DECISIONS – Selectman Dargie made a motion to approve the consent calendar.  Seconded by Selectman 103 
Dudziak. A roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Se-104 
lectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  105 
a) CONSENT CALENDAR.  106 
1. Approval of Intent to Cut Wood or Timber, Map 51 Lot 23 107 
2. Request for Approval to Re-appoint as Full Members to the Recreation Commission – John Murphy, Lena LaBour, and 108 
Patricia Nickerson with terms expiring March 2024.   109 
3.   Request for Acceptance and Appropriation of Unanticipated Revenues under $10,000 (31:95(b)) – Fourth of 5 pay-110 
ments for the land purchase for the Keyes Expansion Project from the O’Connor Trust Fund - $5,000. 111 
4.     Acceptance of Donation from Faye Riche to the (Conservation) Granit Town Rail Trail - $500. 112 
 113 
b) OTHER DECISIONS – Draft Warrant Articles 114 
 115 
Warrant Article 6 – TOWN OPERATING BUDGET  116 
Paul Calabria, Finance Director said we are updating the DRA portal while we are working on these warrants tonight. The 117 
default budget number is now $15,507,826.  We previously included the four vehicles that the staff had asked to be encum-118 
bered.  They are now removed as they should not have been in the default budget.  The number before the change was 119 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 3 

$15,756,541.  Selectman Freel asked if those vehicles were included in the regular operating budget for 2021.  Paul said 120 
yes.   121 
 122 
Selectman Dargie moved to approve the language regarding the default budget to $15,507,826 as presented in the 123 
Town Operating Budget warrant article.  Seconded by Selectman Dudziak.  A roll call vote was taken with Select-124 
man Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  125 
All were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  126 
 127 
Selectman Labonte asked if the difference between the budget and default are just the vehicles.  Paul said the difference 128 
isn’t just the vehicles, the default budget is last year's budget plus or minus retired debt, retirement cost, health insurance 129 
increases, etc. Selectman Labonte said that usually our default budget isn’t that far off from the actual budget and we’ve 130 
had years when the default budget is more than the operating budget.  Paul said he looked back over the last six years and 131 
there were two years where the default budget was a little higher but one year it was $145,000 less, another was $188,000 132 
less and one year it was $121,000 less.    133 
 134 
Selectman Freel said previously Selectman Labonte wanted the Administration to lower the budget by $150,000, he asked 135 
if this was reflected in the current 2021 operating budget.  Chairman Daniels said a list was submitted that identified 136 
$161,127 that could be removed from the budget which now includes another $3,000 from the Town Clerk’s budget which 137 
brings the total to $164,127.  138 
 139 
Selectman Freel made a motion to reduce the operating budget to $15,664,508.  Seconded by Selectman Labonte. A 140 
roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel 141 
yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0. 142 
 143 
Selectman Labonte asked if the Town was okay with doing these reductions.  Administrator Shannon said yes.  Selectman 144 
Dargie said he would not be in favor of making these changes, these things were in the budget for a reason but he will vote 145 
in favor of it.  Selectman Freel asked if removing a police vehicle will hurt the Police Department.  Chief Viola said we 146 
need the vehicle and would like to have it but we would rather keep personnel.  The maintenance budget went up which is 147 
the cost of having older vehicles. We will make due like we’ve done in the past. 148 
 149 
Pete Basiliere asked if the values for the operating budget and the default budget different than what was posted in the war-150 
rant for the meeting.  Administrator Shannon said yes.  We have been updating numbers constantly since the package was 151 
posted last Friday. Pete said he thought the warrant was already posted and you would have to make an amendment at the 152 
Deliberative session to change these numbers. Tina said the warrants have not been posted yet, according to the RSA they 153 
have to be posted tonight.   Wade Scott Campbell asked what the cuts were to make up the $164,127.  Chairman Daniels 154 
read the list:   155 
 156 
Item    Amount of Decrease 157 
Ambulance Response Vehicle $58,427 158 
Police SUV   $49,170 159 
Fire Wages-pt & temp-call  $12,500 160 
DPW Parks   $10,000 161 
DPW Cemetery   $10,000 162 
Recreation Park Rangers  $6,580 163 
Comm Dev Pro Services  $4,000 164 
Ambulance Uniforms  $3,500 165 
Town Clerks Office  $3,000 166 
Comm Dev GIS Support  $2,000 167 
MPD Uniforms   $1,600 168 
Assessor Part-Time and Temp $1,000 169 
MPD Training   $1,000 170 
Admin Envir. Consultants  $1,000 171 
Assessor Tax Map Updates  $250 172 
Assessor books and periodicals $100 173 
Total    $164,127 174 
 175 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 4 

Paul Calabria said we started with the budget in July and reviewed it with the Board and BAC in October, it was already 176 
lean.  When we are tasked with removing more, we have to go after some big items. Selectman Labonte said since we run a 177 
bottom-line budget can expenses be removed from areas that we may not need to expend money out of and used for other 178 
things that may be needed. Paul said yes.  179 
 180 
Selectman Freel thought it would be done differently.  For the last few years there has been a surplus of over $150,000, if 181 
we need the vehicle, is there a way to take it from a different spot that had a surplus. Paul said they look at run rates and 182 
make their determinations from that data and prior year budgets.  If you need to access the fund balance during the year 183 
because you have a budget shortfall, it will require an emergency meeting which is a big deal.  It’s common to be spending 184 
97% and 98% of the budget and it’s reasonable. He and Tina will be here tonight until everything is complete, uploaded 185 
into the DRA portal, and posted at the High School and Town Hall. 186 
 187 
Chairman Daniels said with this reduction the budget will go from 3.7% over the 2020 budget to 2.6% over the 2020 budg-188 
et.  Administrator Shannon wanted to clarify for Selectman Freel that some of the surpluses from last year was because of 189 
COVID and us not hiring in certain positions.   190 
 191 
Warrant Article  - PUBLIC WORKS WHEEL BUCKET LOADER PURCHASE – ($146,118) $120,000 Paid From 192 
Capital Reserves, net purchase price $26,118;  193 
 194 
The language was simplified as follows: Shall the Town vote to purchase a Hitachi wheel bucket loader for the sum of 195 
$146,118, with $120,000 to come from the DPW Vehicles & Heavy Equipment Capital Reserve Fund; with the remaining 196 
$26,118 to come from general taxation.  Majority Vote Required.    197 
 198 
Paul said this doesn't need 60% because it's a purchase, not a lease.  Selectman Labonte questions the language of $26,118 199 
coming from general taxation. He asked how much this would raise the budget.  Administrator Shannon said per the last 200 
discussion we had on this at our Thursday meeting, $19,000 was going to be a credit and DPW was going to take $7,118 201 
from their budget.  The budget that was just approved would not be going up.  202 
 203 
Selectman Dargie said he understands that the intent is not to spend that money, but this creates the authorization to do it. 204 
Paul said yes.  At this point, there was additional discussion on the clarification of the language.  Paul said this was the 205 
cleanest way to put the language in.  206 
 207 
Chris Anton, DPW Highway Manager, said that of the $19,000, two payments have already been paid from the 2020 fiscal 208 
year. Three payments came out of the 2021 fiscal year.  He already made two payments this year and the third payment will 209 
be made next week.  The only thing we need to show on this purchase is the $7,118 coming out of our DPW budget.  210 
 211 
Chairman Daniels said everything needs to be accounted for.  This is the way that DRA said it needs to be worded.  The 212 
$26,118 is coming from general taxation, some of it already came up and some more will come from the budget.  That to-213 
gether with the $120,000 in capital reserve will equal the total of $146,118.   214 
 215 
Selectman Labonte is confused because the tax impact for this is $1.55 per $100,000 but on the operating budget it’s $5.73, 216 
why are they so close when the operating budget is over $15,000,000.  Paul said the $5.73 is over last year’s budget as stat-217 
ed at the bottom of the warrant article.   218 
 219 
Chris Anton said you have a tax impact when you pass the budget so why are we having an additional tax on the wheel 220 
loader on the $26,118 when the $19,000 and the $7,118 are both coming out of the budget.  Does this mean it’s being taxed 221 
twice?  Paul said no.  Selectman Freel asked how we can make it less confusing.  Tina suggests that a simplified explana-222 
tion be put in the voter’s guide so that everyone could understand what we are trying to do.   223 
 224 
Administrator Shannon said we will do our best to make sure explanations are in plain English so everyone understands the 225 
warrant articles. The DRA goes by the laws as they are written.   226 
 227 
Rick Riendeau, DPW Director said it’s simple, the total purchase price is $165,000, the municipal discounts and the Chap-228 
pell family discounts and other special discounts that come with it were $37,882. Minus the capital reserve amount of 229 
$120,000 which leaves a balance of $7,118 which I will find in my DPW budget.   230 
 231 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 5 

Selectman Freel asked why we don’t just do a warrant to spend the capital reserve and spend the money the way it needs to 232 
be done. Rick agreed.  Selectman Dargie said the DRA requires that we do these warrants the way they are written which is 233 
showing the gross appropriation.  This warrant article meets all the DRA requirements.   234 
 235 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to approve the language as shown.  Seconded by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call 236 
vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and 237 
Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  238 
 239 
Selectman Dargie moved to recommend the public Seconded by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call vote was taken with 240 
Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels 241 
yes.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  242 
 243 
Warrant Article - PUBLIC WORKS SNOW PLOW UNIT 5 YEAR LEASE-PURCHASE  244 
 245 
Selectman Dargie said over the past few years there were 18 different DPW warrant articles presented.  Of the 18, three 246 
passed with more than 60% votes, three passed with 50% to 60%, and eight failed.  DPW is supported much less than Fire 247 
or Ambulance.  He feels we risk failing at this warrant article if we leave it at 60%. Especially if it isn’t supported 5/0 by 248 
the Selectmen.  He would like to use the language that doesn't use the capital reserve, includes a non-appropriation clause, 249 
and uses a 50%  vote.   250 
  251 
Selectman Dargie moved to recommend the language requiring only the 50% majority vote on the Public Works 252 
Snow Plow Unit.  Seconded by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman 253 
Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte no, Selectman Freel no, and Chairman Daniels no.  The motion failed 2/3 with Se-254 
lectman Daniels, Selectman Labonte and Selectman Freel opposed.  255 
 256 
Selectman Labonte said it isn’t in what passed or failed, it’s what the voters wanted to spread out for money.  He doesn’t 257 
want to do this without capital reserve.  We don’t know why the previous DPW warrant articles failed.  He feels that his 258 
warrant article is overpriced. If you want it to pass, you should lower the price.   259 
 260 
Mike Thornton, Milford resident, said we should capital reserve because that is why we set it up.  He doesn’t think we 261 
should use the language that requires only a 50% vote.  Rick said if you are using $120,000 in capital reserve for the loader, 262 
there isn't any left to use on this snowplow unit.   263 
 264 
Selectman Freel agrees with Selectman Labonte.  We should save up more capital reserve to use for this type of vehicle in a 265 
couple of years.  Selectman Dargie said he was on the original capital reserve committee and this issue of capital reserve 266 
causing a 60% vote never came up. This is new this year.  We may not have setup up these accounts if we knew this was 267 
coming down the road.  He would be in favor of canceling capital reserves for DPW equipment.   268 
 269 
Selectman Dudziak asked if Selectman's Labonte and Freel would be in favor of this warrant article if we did propose using 270 
capital reserve and there was a 60% vote.  Selectman Freel said he would be in favor.  Selectman Labonte isn't in favor ei-271 
ther way.  He thinks we should use the capital reserve.  He has a problem with the price of this warrant article and the fact 272 
that it doesn't identify what type of truck.   273 
 274 
Eric Schelberg, Ambulance Director, said he also worked on the capital reserve committee and the idea behind setting these 275 
up was that they were to be built up so that you could purchase vehicles outright after so many years.  Rick repeated that 276 
there was $120,000 in the DPW capital reserve account and we already applied it to the loader, there isn't any money left.  277 
This warrant article wasn't written to use the capital reserve.  He has no problem putting the words "6 wheel snowplow 278 
unit" in the warrant article.   279 
 280 
Selectman Freel asked at what point we say, "it’s too much”?  Go for what is most important this year and not the stuff that 281 
isn’t 100% necessary.   282 
 283 
Selectman Dudziak called the question. Seconded by Selectman Dargie. A roll call vote was taken with Selectman 284 
Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All 285 
were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  286 
  287 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 6 

A roll call vote on the motion was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte no, 288 
Selectman Freel no, and Chairman Daniels no.  The motion failed 2/3 with Selectman Daniels, Selectman Labonte 289 
and Selectman Freel opposed. 290 
 291 
Selectman Labonte made a motion to add in the words “6 wheel” in the warrant article.    Seconded by Selectman 292 
Freel. A roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie no, Selectman Dudziak no, Selectman Labonte yes, Select-293 
man Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.   The motion passed 3/2 with Selectman Dargie and Selectman Dudziak 294 
opposed.  295 
 296 
Selectman Labonte made a motion to lower the warrant article amount from $200,000 to $180,000.  Seconded by 297 
Selectman Freel. 298 
 299 
Selectman Freel asked if DPW could purchase a vehicle for $180,000 and get what they need.  Rick said it's a tough market 300 
right now.  Sometimes they can buy one off the lot and get close to what they are looking for.  He's in the neighborhood of 301 
the $180,000 but didn't want to limit himself.  If it's $183,000, what does he do?  Just because the warrant article is 302 
$200,000, doesn’t mean he will spend that entire amount.  He always goes a little higher to give them some extra room. We 303 
have never overspent on any of our equipment.  Trucks take a long time to order and we can’t order until we have the 304 
money.  Selectman Labonte said there are ways around everything. 305 
 306 
Mike Thornton asked if this was a 6 wheel, plow/sander unit that is integrated and cannot be used as a dump truck.  Rick 307 
said it’s the integrated unit but it can be used as a dump truck.  All our trucks are versatile.   308 
  309 
Selectman Freel called the question.  Seconded by Selectman Dudzkak. A roll call vote was taken with Selectman 310 
Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All 311 
were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  312 
  313 
A roll call vote on the motion was taken with Selectman Dargie no, Selectman Dudziak no, Selectman Labonte yes, 314 
Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  The motion passed 3/2 with Selectman Dargie and Selectman 315 
Dudziak opposed.   316 
 317 
Selectman Dargie moved to approve the language associated with the red language vote in the Public Works Snow 318 
Plow Unit warrant article. Seconded by Selectman Dudziak.    319 
  320 
Selectman Dargie read the warrant article.  He said that the original one had capital reserve in it.  Tina said this warrant 321 
never had capital reserve in it. There were only two warrant articles referencing capital reserve and they were the Fire 322 
Truck and the DPW Loader.  She doesn’t know why this was re-written but it never had capital reserve included in it.  We 323 
only had $120,000 in capital reserve and this was in the Loader warrant article only.    324 
 325 
A roll call vote on the motion was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, 326 
Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor. The motion passed 5/0.  327 
 328 
Selectman Dargie moved to recommend the Public Works Snow Plow Unit warrant article as amended.  Seconded 329 
by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call vote on the motion was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, 330 
Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor. The motion passed 5/0.  331 
 332 
Warrant Article - FIRE RESCUE TRUCK #1 REPLACEMENT 333 
 334 
Chairman Daniels said this is for the language that requires a 60% vote.  Selectman Dargie said in the past, there have been 335 
four fire department and ambulance warrant articles in the last eight years.  They all passed with more than 60% of the vote 336 
and they were all supported 5/0.     337 
 338 
Warrant Article - FIRST RESPONDERS COMMUNICATIONS NETWORK 339 
 340 
Chairman Daniels made a motion to use $700,000 from the fund balance to reduce the price of the First Responders 341 
Communications Network. Seconded by Selectman Dudziak.    342 
 343 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 7 

Chairman Daniels said we are now at 8.9% in the fund balance and this will reduce it to 7.5% which is still within the limits 344 
that the DRA recommends.  Communications has been a priority for the past two years and we can use these funds for 345 
emergency purposes and he feels that this is an emergency. 346 
 347 
Selectman Freel asked if this will be put in the warrant article so that people can see what is being done.  Chairman Daniels 348 
said yes. Chairman Daniels read the proposed change: 349 
  350 
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate, an amount not to exceed $2,400,000 for upgrades and replacement of the 351 
emergency services dispatch center and related infrastructure/equipment and to authorize the issuance of not more than 352 
$1,700,000 of bonds or notes in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Finance Act (RSA 33) and to authorize the 353 
municipal officials to issue and negotiate such bonds or notes and to determine the rate of interest thereon; with $700,000 to 354 
come from the unassigned fund balance?  This article adopts the recommendation of the consultant engaged to study dis-355 
patch operations as approved by voters in March 2019. The project establishes a First Responders Communications Net-356 
work replacing MACC Base and allows connectivity by neighboring towns if they choose to participate and borrowing not 357 
more than $2,400,000 in bonds, bond anticipation notes, or notes therefore in accordance with the Municipal Finance Act 358 
(RSA 33), the article further authorizes the Selectmen to issue and negotiate bonds or notes with a term not to exceed 15 359 
years and to determine the rate of interest and other conditions in their judgment. This is a non-lapsing warrant article. This 360 
is a Special Warrant Article in accordance with RSA 32. Note: As this is for the issuance of long-term debt, this vote under 361 
state law requires a 60% affirmative vote to pass. 362 
 363 
Selectman Labonte said he feels this is a tactic to try to get the voters to approve that warrant article.  He would rather give 364 
the voters back the $700,000 on top of the $644,000 already approved.  This is conditional, if it doesn't pass, you don't get 365 
it.  He feels it’s deceitful. 366 
 367 
Selectman Dargie referenced a fund balance analysis and asked Paul what his opinion was about going below the 368 
NHGFOA recommendation of 8% to 17%.  Paul said he’s okay with 7.5%.  If anything catastrophic happened, for either 369 
the town or school, it would be covered by FEMA, state money, or the town's insurance.  370 
 371 
Keven Federico, Milford resident, said he disagrees with Selectman Labonte, this isn't deceitful.  By taking $700,000 out of 372 
fund balance it's this Board's statement of how serious they are taking the communications warrant article year and how 373 
much they are supporting it and they want it to pass.  This is a 15-year issue and it will continue to be an issue.  He appreci-374 
ates the motion made to take a step forward to show the tax-payers of Milford how serious that the Board takes this article.   375 
 376 
Selectman Freel said he doesn't think it's deceitful.  One could make an argument of why we can take $700,000 out of fund 377 
balance for this and not to just buy a fire truck outright.  Removing money from this fund should only be done when neces-378 
sary.  He thinks this would help offset the cost and it's a good idea.  He asked if we've received any additional numbers on 379 
what the actual cost will be for Communications. Captain Frye said the architect said he would have a number by Saturday.    380 
 381 
Selectman Labonte believes that numbers are still missing. He doesn’t see a difference; if you give the $700,000 back to the 382 
voters it will offset the same amount of money.  If this doesn’t pass do we just wait until the next Selectmen’s meeting and 383 
give $700,000 back to the tax-payers then?  384 
 385 
Chairman Daniels said if the motion fails, the $700,000 will remain in the fund balance.  He made the motion because he 386 
believes the vast majority of the Board feels that this is the highest priority item and we’ve been working on it for two 387 
years.  This is a way to get it resolved so we can go on with life.   388 
 389 
Selectman Labonte said at the end of the day, you are still pushing for $2,400,000.  The tax-payers will see that they are 390 
going to get $700,000 back or not if they don’t vote for it.  Captain Frye said the only number missing from this is the 391 
building.  Everything else was sent to the Board last week.  Selectman Labonte asked that it be resent, he hasn't seen any-392 
thing.  Chairman Daniels said those numbers were sent out to all the Board. Captain Frye said that was part of their release.  393 
Chairman Daniels agreed.  Selectman Labonte said the videos from the meetings are not released either.  Administrator 394 
Shannon said he will speak to Community Media about them.   395 
      396 
Selectman Dudziak called the question.  Seconded by Selectman Freel. A roll call vote on the motion was taken with 397 
Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels 398 
yes.  All were in favor. The motion passed 5/0.  399 
 400 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 8 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte no, 401 
Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.   The motion passed 4/1 with Selectman Labonte opposed. 402 
 403 
Selectman Labonte referenced an e-mail from Jeff Marshall and asked if he can get the answers before Saturday.  Chair-404 
man Daniels said the staff was working on it.   405 
 406 
Selectman Dargie moved to recommend warrant article 3 as amended.  Seconded by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call 407 
vote was taken on the motion with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte no, Selectman 408 
Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.   The motion passed 4/1 with Selectman Labonte opposed. 409 
 410 
Selectman Dudziak would like to change her vote to yes on the warrant article for - KEYES PARK EXPANSION 411 
COMMITTEE PROJECT CAPITAL RESERVE.  The vote will now be 3/2 in favor.  Chairman Daniels said he would 412 
write the minority report.   413 
 414 
5. TOWN STATUS REPORT - N/A 415 
 416 
6. DISCUSSIONS:   417 
a. Fund Balance Discussion  - Paul Calabria, Finance Director said this is no longer necessary with the Board's action on 418 
the First Responders Communications Network warrant article.   419 
 420 
b. Town of Milford Policy on Electronic and Telephone Communication (Social Media) 421 
 422 
Selectman Labonte referenced section J. c) conducting a political activity or private business.  If something is posted on a 423 
town Facebook page saying vote yes on a warrant article, is it considered a political activity?  Chairman Daniels said we 424 
use social media to inform the town’s people of what is going on including using the voters guide to profile candidates for 425 
Town elections.  If you were going to change the definition it would to not endorse or work against candidates.   426 
 427 
Selectman Labonte said last year a flyer was put out with private funds and in his opinion, it had misleading and inaccurate 428 
information on it.  It’s still on the town’s website today.  He referenced another flyer put out recently and asked if it was put 429 
out by a private entity.   430 
 431 
Selectman Dudziak said she reviewed the policy and the flyer and it isn’t in violation of the policy, it isn’t political.  It’s 432 
governed by section 6, town posted information. There hasn’t been an issue in the past when other departments have posted 433 
this type of information.  You are not taking a position on a candidate to vote for.  It doesn't make sense that a warrant arti-434 
cle supported by most of this Board and all of the Budget Advisory Committee can’t be promoted on a town social media 435 
page.   436 
 437 
Tim Finan, Milford resident, was the original writer of that policy ten years ago.  What is appropriate or not appropriate on 438 
social media changes daily.  He reviewed the old minutes and based on what was said by Selectman Dudziak and Select-439 
man Labonte, the general discussion was to make sure candidates running for Selectmen were not advocated by any de-440 
partments in general.  Promoting warrant articles is a different story because once an article is voted on; it is the position of 441 
the town.  Advocating for a warrant article that the majority of the Board supported is no different than supporting any pos-442 
iting the town takes, like closing town hall due to COVID. It’s the position of the town and not political.  If an article 443 
wasn’t supported by the Board and some department went forward to support it, that would go against the stated position of 444 
the town.   445 
 446 
Selectman Freel said this is a fine line.  He’s not sure we should be setting a precedence of allowing departments to do this.    447 
Selectman Labonte said he doesn't have a problem if all this information is put up on facebook pages as long as it's factual, 448 
take the opinion out of it.  He said he brought this up last year and it didn’t go anywhere.  He asked who put the flyer up to 449 
vote yes on warrant article 3. 450 
 451 
Chief Viola said someone from the PD, but it’s his decision what goes up.  He doesn’t understand what the issue is because 452 
this has been done in the past. It was done last year.  He thinks the Fire Department had a flyer when they were putting to-453 
gether the building addition.   454 
 455 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 9 

Selectman Labonte asked who made the flyers.  Captain Frye said CTA did.  Selectman Labonte said a private company 456 
trying to get our work going forward is advertising on our website and is trying to get us to vote yes so they can gain mon-457 
ey.   458 
 459 
Captain Frye said a design company designed the flyers and paid for them, it wasn’t paid for by CTA, they just gave them 460 
to us.  It was done for public safety.  Selectman Labonte repeated that there were things put out last year.  Selectman 461 
Dudziak asked if Selectman Labonte is suggesting that the flyer being put out this year is not factual?  Selectman Labonte 462 
said he didn’t know, there hasn’t been enough number released for him to answer that question.  He said the information 463 
from last year in his opinion wasn’t correct.    464 
 465 
Selectman Dudziak said he was insinuating that the flyer isn’t factual and he indicated that he didn’t have a problem with 466 
anything put out there as long as it was factual information.  To her, you are suggesting that this flyer is not based on facts.  467 
Selectman Labonte said he's referring to the "vote yes on 3" that is inappropriate.  Further in the policy, it discusses the use 468 
of titles and town images is prohibited.  If CTA got the flyer, it wasn’t the town so that is someone else using our logo, cor-469 
rect.  Chairman Daniels said he wouldn't say it was correct, that they would just it without our permission to do that.  Se-470 
lectman Dudziak agreed.  471 
 472 
Kevin Federico, Milford resident, said whether it’s factual or not factual is just the opinion of people throwing their opin-473 
ions around.   Since the social media policy came out 10 years ago in the history of the last 7 to 10 years has been that when 474 
the Fire Department supports a new fire truck, they put it on facebook.  When the ambulance service supports a new ambu-475 
lance, they put it on facebook.   When the library supports a $5,000,000 renovation, they put it on facebook with all of the 476 
designs and supporting documentation that the supporting companies have given to them.  You are not setting a precedent, 477 
what you would be doing by changing anything at this point is going against the precedent that has already been set.  De-478 
partments don’t support people but if it has a majority vote of the Board, the Board supports it, the town supports it, and 479 
there is a majority and minority for everything and both should be able to be posted.  480 
 481 
Mike Thornton, said he understands that a private contractor is posting information that lets them draw profit.  Administra-482 
tor Shannon said he keeps hearing about information not being posted, if you go on the town’s web site under deliberative, 483 
there are three documents all related to the numbers on this flyer. Minutes have also been released with all the numbers 484 
associated with these flyers.  Selectman Labonte asked about videos.  Administrator Shannon said he would get hat infor-485 
mation from Chris Gentry.  486 
 487 
Chief Viola said the flyers were approved by us.  We didn’t pay for anything.  It was meant to bring the facts out for the 488 
voters to see.  Selectman Freel said he would want to know if his departments support this article before going into the vot-489 
ing booth.  People should know if the departments are or are not in favor of something.  He just wants to make sure that we 490 
are following the law.  Maybe they don't say "vote yes" but we support this, it all means the same thing.      491 
 492 
Selectman Labonte repeated that he has no problem putting the information up, he just didn’t want a repeat of in his opin-493 
ion, what happened last year.  He has a problem of saying “vote yes”.   494 
 495 
 496 
Selectman Dudziak made a motion that the flyer posted on the social media page for warrant article 3 indicating 497 
vote yes, does not violate the town's policy on Electronic and Telephone Communication.  Seconded by Selectman 498 
Dargie. 499 
 500 
Captain Frye said the information on the flyers is nothing new than what we’ve been saying all along. CTA didn’t pay for 501 
these flyers to be made.  They were around when the previous flyers were made and they took it upon themselves to ask if 502 
we wanted help with the flyers.  The designer donated their time and donated their print materials.    503 
 504 
Selectman Freel asked if there was a way to reword this so it can be just okayed by us? He questions the legality of it.  505 
Chairman Daniels said the question is, do you feel that it’s inappropriate that the flyer has been posted.  Selectman Labonte 506 
said it's also about employees using themselves as spokespersons for the department. Administrator Shannon said it's not a 507 
question of legality, this is a town policy and the Board doesn't even sign off on it.   508 
 509 
Selectman Dudziak called the question.  Seconded by Selectman Dargie. A roll call vote was taken with Selectman 510 
Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All 511 
were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.  512 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 10 

Selectman Labonte asked if the brochures/flyers say who they were created by on them since they were not created by the 513 
Town of Milford.  Chairman Daniels said it would be up to the Board to decide.  514 
 515 
A roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte no, Selectman 516 
Freel no, and Chairman Daniels yes.  The motion passed 3/2 with Selectman Labonte and Selectman Freel opposed. 517 
 518 
Selectman Labonte made a motion that any information put out by the Town of Milford states who it was used by.  519 
Tina Philbrick, Milford resident, said she didn’t think it would be fair to tell a private entity that is giving us flyers for free, 520 
what they can and can’t put on their flyers.  If they don’t want to put their name on them, they shouldn’t have to.  We al-521 
ready have these flyers so in her opinion, they are grandfathered.  Selectman Labonte said if this was the company that has 522 
a bid in with the Town of Milford that has a chance to proffer from its passage, he doesn’t feel it’s appropriate.  Tina said it 523 
wasn’t that company that made those flyers, someone made them for them. There was no second on Selectman Labonte’s 524 
motion so it failed.   525 
 526 
c. Selectman Rules of Procedures – Tabled from January 11, 2021 527 
Administrator Shannon referenced rule 15 which reads that the Board recommends or not recommend it doesn’t say any-528 
thing about doing vote totals which we do.  Does anyone want to make that adjustment?  Selectman Dargie noted that Ad-529 
ministrator Shannon has an outdated copy.  This was already changed.  The last sentence reads “The Board of Selectmen 530 
does not recommend this article (x-x) (yes-no)” and the yes or no should be added to all the articles.   531 
 532 
Administrator Shannon referenced rule 29 deals with how you call out town staff in public forums, like criticism of their 533 
performance; it should be in a non-public session and not in public.  He just wanted to mention that this happens some-534 
times. Part of his job is to advocate for his staff and pass on their concerns.  He wants to make sure this is done in the prop-535 
er place.  Chairman Daniels said it's also statutory language.  536 
 537 
Chairman Daniels thought we should add virtual meetings under meetings of the Selectmen.  We are currently operating 538 
under emergency orders and there are bills that would allow Boards to choose whether to continue doing virtual meetings 539 
going forward.    540 
 541 
Selectman Labonte said he understands where Administrator Shannon is coming from, but it works both ways and the he 542 
expects to be treated the same under the same rule 29.   543 
 544 
Selectman Dargie said in regards to virtual meetings after the Governor's emergency orders are done, you will have to fol-545 
low the laws on having regular meetings. Chairman Daniels said there is a bill going through legislator that would allow 546 
governing Boards to continue virtual or hybrid meetings after the state of emergency is removed. We usually have fewer 547 
people at regular Board meetings and we have about 40 at this zoom meeting.  Selectman Dargie feels we should wait on 548 
this until we know what RSA’s are enacted.   549 
 550 
7. PUBLIC COMMENTS: - Jennifer Segrest, Milford resident, wants to know why there are so many warrant articles and 551 
what's required during this economic downturn we are experiencing right now.  There are struggling families in town with 552 
people either unemployed or underemployed. She’s asked the Selectman to consider these people when they make their 553 
decisions.   554 
 555 
She is also concerned that the Selectmen haven’t discussed the emergency executive order that allows towns and school 556 
districts to postpone their Deliberative sessions.  She also questioned item 1 on the consent calendar, Approval of Intent to 557 
Cut Wood or Timber, Map 51 Lot 23, she didn't understand the heading on the fourth page.   558 
 559 
Marti Noel, Assessing Director said that is for the Board to allow the tax collector to send a warrant, it’s not “the warrant”.  560 
Administrator Shannon said what Jennifer was referring to was the top of the page where the letterhead will go once this is 561 
approved.  It's an example that will be replaced with town letterhead. Tina said it's a boilerplate form that gets changed with 562 
its complete.  Marti said page 4 will be replaced by the final version from the tax collector when she submits the final war-563 
rant. Tina said the Board doesn’t sign that page, it’s a reference page, they sign two pages before that. Jennifer was still 564 
confused.  She asked if the Selectman usually have any issues with the town employees changing things that they’ve al-565 
ready approved.  Marti said page four will not be changed.  The three pages before that are used for the tax collector to cre-566 
ate a tax warrant.   The last page was submitted as an addendum and it won’t make any difference.   567 
 568 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 11 

David Wilson, a Milford resident, mirrored Jennifer’s concerns about postponing the Deliberative session.  Other towns 569 
like Amherst have changed their dates.  He feels it would be better for Milford to postpone when it’s warmer to get a better 570 
turn-out.   571 
 572 
Selectman Freel is not in favor of changing the dates for Deliberative and voting.  Paul Calabria said all departments would 573 
be held accountable to hold their spending and they would have to hold off on any bigger purchases.  Chairman Daniels 574 
said currently under our fiscal year, the town must go a quarter without a budget.  Extending out to May would cause them 575 
to go five months without a budget.  Not everyone will be happy with whatever we chose to do.  The Town Moderator does 576 
everything he can to keep the safety of the townspeople first and foremost.  577 
 578 
Captain Frye said the Town Moderator has a good grip on how to keep people safe and the voting in November went very 579 
well.  Arene Berry, Recreation Director said that the town of Amherst has not made the decision yet to change their voting 580 
date, it’s being discussed and voted on tomorrow night. 581 
 582 
Pete Basilier, Town Moderator, said Mont Vernon and Amherst will be postponing.    583 
 584 
8. SELECTMEN'S REPORTS/DISCUSSIONS. 585 
 a. FROM PROJECTS, SPECIAL BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES.  586 
 587 
State Representative Maria Periz asked if there was any way we can make accommodations for people who don’t feel com-588 
fortable going to the elections in March, like a drive-thru or something.  Chairman Daniels said they are working closely 589 
with the Town and School Moderator and they will do something similar to the elections last November which worked out 590 
well.   591 
 592 
b. OTHER ITEMS (that are not on the agenda). Chairman Daniels wanted to discuss the purchasing policy ie: purchas-593 
ing without specific authority. For example, if you had a $30,000 vehicle that requires the Boards approval to purchase that 594 
but you could get $7,000 as a trade-in, which now brings it below the $25,000 requirement, do you still need Board approv-595 
al.  Should you be looking at the $30,000 or the $23,000.   596 
 597 
Selectman Labonte said you are always going to have a purchase price using discounts and or trade in’s. and there is a dol-598 
lar amount already in there but it needs clarification.  Selectman Freel would support language for the “gross” amount of 599 
the purchase with a $25,000 cap.   600 
 601 
Administrator Shannon referenced section 8. (c). Disposal of Surplus Property: The Department Head must present any 602 
property (non-real estate), which is considered to be surplus and valued at over $500, to the Town Administrator with a 603 
recommended method of disposition for approval. Various possible disposition means are the sealed bid or auction process, 604 
State surplus auction, trade-in usage, retained for usage as parts, or transfer to another Town Department. Selectman Freels 605 
suggestion would solve the problem that we are discussing. Chairman Daniels agreed.   606 
 607 
Selectman Labonte said over the years the purchase, what the check was cut for was under one level but what the trade-in, 608 
(gross price) was still above that.  Chairman Daniels asked Selectmen Freel if he wanted to make a motion about the gross 609 
amount.  We can make the recommendation this time and vote on final approval next time so people will have time to re-610 
view the policy.    611 
 612 
Selectman Freel made a motion support language for the “gross” amount of the purchase with a $25,000 cap. Se-613 
conded by Selectman Labonte.   614 
 615 
Selectman Freel said he would hope we would try to get the best trade-in or value amount as possible.  Chairman Daniels 616 
said he feels that the department heads are working in the best interest of the town.     617 
 618 
A roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman 619 
Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor. The motion passed 5/0.   620 
 621 
Selectman Freel said there is a guard rail that was damaged on Mountain View Court and asked if it will be replaced soon.  622 
Rick said he would take care of it.   623 
 624 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 1/25/2021 
 
 

 12 

9. APPROVAL OF FINAL MINUTES - Selectman Dargie moved to approve the minutes of January 11, 2021, and 625 
January 11, 2021, Budget and Bond Hearing.  Seconded by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call vote was taken with Se-626 
lectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes. 627 
All were in favor. The motion passed 5/0.   628 
 10. INFORMATION ITEMS REQUIRING NO DECISIONS.  629 
 a. N/A 630 
11.  NOTICES.  Notices were read.  631 
 632 
12. NON-PUBLIC SESSION.  A motion made by Selectman Dudziak to enter into a non-public session at 8:50, in 633 
accordance with (RSA 91:A:3,II (a)) Personnel and (RSA 91:A:3,II (b)) Personnel. Seconded by Selectmen Dargie. A 634 
roll call vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel 635 
yes, and Chairman Daniels yes. The motion passed 5/0.   636 
 637 
In non-public the Board made two decisions.  The non-public minutes were not sealed. 638 
 639 
13. ADJOURNMENT: Selectman Dargie moved to adjourn at 9:00 pm. Seconded by Selectman Dudziak. A roll call 640 
vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Dudziak yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and 641 
Chairman Daniels yes.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 5/0.    642 

 643 
 644 
        ___    ______________________ 645 
Gary Daniels, Chairman   Chris Labonte, Member 646 
 647 
  648 
 649 
_________________________  _____________________________  650 
Paul Dargie, Vice Chairman  David Freel, Member 651 
 652 
 653 
 654 
_________________________  655 
Laura Dudziak, Member   656 


	APPROVED
	MINUTES OF THE MILFORD BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING
	January 25, 2021
	PRESENT: Gary Daniels, Chairman (Zoom)   John Shannon, Town Administrator (Zoom)
	Paul Dargie, Vice Chairman (Zoom)  Tina Philbrick, Executive Assistant (Zoom)
	Laura Dudziak, Member (Zoom)
	Chris Labonte, Member (Zoom)
	David Freel, Member (Zoom)
	Gary Daniels, Chairman   Chris Labonte, Member
	_________________________
	Laura Dudziak, Member

